
 
 

Oak Ridge Site Specific Advisory Board 
Monthly Meeting 

 

 
WWWeeedddnnneeesssdddaaayyy,,,   SSSeeepppttteeemmmbbbeeerrr   999,,,   222000111555   
6 p.m., DOE Information Center 

1 Science.gov Way 
Oak Ridge, Tennessee 

 

The mission of the Oak Ridge Site Specific Advisory Board (ORSSAB) is to 
provide informed advice and recommendations concerning site specific issues 
related to the Department of Energy’s (DOE’s) Environmental Management 
(EM) Program at the Oak Ridge Reservation. In order to provide unbiased 
evaluation and recommendations on the cleanup efforts related to the 
Oak Ridge site, the Board seeks opportunities for input through 
collaborative dialogue with the communities surrounding the Oak Ridge 
Reservation, governmental regulators, and other stakeholders. 

 



CONTENTS 
 
 
AGENDA 
  
PRESENTATION MATERIALS – Proposed Plan for Outfall 200 (OF200) Mercury Treatment 

Facility (MTF) – distributed prior to meeting 
  
CALENDARS  
 1. September 
 2. October (draft) 
 
BOARD MINUTES/RECOMMENDATIONS & MOTIONS 

1. June 10, 2015 draft meeting minutes 
2. Slate of Nominees for ORSSAB officers for FY 2016 

 
REPORTS & MEMOS 

1. Recommendation Tracking Chart 
2. EM Project Update 
3. Abbreviations/Acronyms for EM Projects Update   
4. Travel Opportunities for FY 2015 
5. Travel Opportunities for FY 2016 
6. Trip Report: Alfreda Cook on the 2015 EPA Community Involvement Training 

Conference 
7. Trip Report: Pete Osborne on the 2015 EPA Community Involvement Training 

Conference 
 

 
 



  
 

 
Oak Ridge Site Specific Advisory Board 

Wednesday, September 9, 2015, 6:00 p.m. 
DOE Information Center 

1 Science.gov Way, Oak Ridge, Tenn. 

AGENDA 

 
I. Welcome and Announcements (D. Hemelright)  .................................................................. 6:00−6:05 
 A. Next Meeting: Wednesday, October 14 
  Presentation Topic: Environmental Management Disposal Facility 
 B. Presentation of Service Award to Outgoing Member Jan Lyons (S. Cange) 
 C. Introduction of New ORSSAB Members Martha Deaderick, Mike Ford,  
  Dennis Wilson (S. Cange) 
 
II. Comments from the Deputy Designated Federal Officer, and EPA and TDEC Liaisons  
 (S. Cange, C. Jones, K. Czartoryski) .................................................................................... 6:05−6:15 
 
III. Public Comment Period (A. Joldersma) ............................................................................... 6:15−6:25 
 
IV. Presentation: Y-12 Mercury Cleanup Strategy and Plan for a Y-12 Water  
 Treatment Plant (Jason Darby) ........................................................................................... 6:25−6:50 
 Question and Answer Period  ............................................................................................... 6:50−7:05  
 
V. Call for Additions/Approval of Agenda ........................................................................................ 7:05 
 
VI. Motions ................................................................................................................................. 7:05−7:10 
 A. June 10, 2015, Meeting Minutes (L. Hagy)  
 B. Election of FY 2016 Board Officers (L. Hagy) 
 
VII.  Responses to Recommendations & Comments (D. Adler) .................................................. 7:10−7:15 
 
VIII. Committee Reports ............................................................................................................... 7:15−7:20 
 A. EM/Stewardship  (B. Hatcher, C. Staley)  
 B. Executive (D. Hemelright)  
 
IX. Federal Coordinator’s Report (M. Noe)  .............................................................................. 7:20–7:25 
 
X. Additions to Agenda & Open Discussion ............................................................................. 7:25−7:30 
 
XI. Adjourn  ......................................................................................................................................... 7:30  



 
All Meetings will be held at the DOE Information Center, Office of Science and Technical Information, 1Science.gov Way,  
Oak Ridge unless noted otherwise.  
Board member travel: D. Hemelright, P. Osborne – EM SSAB Chairs’ Meeting, Sept. 1-3, Santa Fe, N.M. 
ORSSAB Support Office: (865) 241-4583 or 241-4584       DOE Information Center: (865) 241-4780 
. 

Board meetings on cable TV and YouTube 
Knoxville: Charter Channel 6, Comcast Channel 12 Sunday, September 20 and 27 at 8 p.m. 
Lenoir City: Charter Cable Channel 3 Wednesdays, 4 p.m. 
Oak Ridge: Channel 12 Monday,  September 28, 7 p.m. 
Oak Ridge: Channel 15 Monday, Wednesday, Friday, 8 a.m. & noon 
YouTube http://www.youtube.com/user/ORSSAB 

 

 
Oak Ridge Site Specific Advisory Board  

September 2015 
 

Sunday 
 

Monday 
 

Tuesday 
 

Wednesday 
 

Thursday 
 

Friday 
 

Saturday 

  1 2 3 4 5 

6 7 
Labor Day 
Holiday 
DOE/Staff 
holiday 

8 

Tour of site of 
proposed 
Mercury 
Treatment 
Facility at Y-12 
9 a.m. 

9 
Monthly SSAB 
Meeting 6 p.m. 

10 
 

11 12 

13 14 
 

15 16 
Environmental 
Management & 
Stewardship 
Committee 
6 p.m. 
 

17 
 

18 19 

20 21 22 
 

23 
 

24 25 26 

27 28 29 30    

 

EM SSAB Chairs’ Meeting 
Santa Fe, N.M. 



 

 
All Meetings will be held at the DOE Information Center, Office of Science and Technical Information, 1Science.gov Way,  
Oak Ridge unless noted otherwise.  
ORSSAB Support Office: (865) 241-4583 or 241-4584       DOE Information Center: (865) 241-4780 
. 

Board meetings on cable TV and YouTube 
Knoxville: Charter Channel 6, Comcast Channel 12 Sunday, October 18 and 25 at 8 p.m. 
Lenoir City: Charter Cable Channel 3 Wednesdays, 4 p.m. 
Oak Ridge: Channel 12 Monday,  October 26, 7 p.m. 
Oak Ridge: Channel 15 Monday, Wednesday, Friday, 8 a.m. & noon 
YouTube http://www.youtube.com/user/ORSSAB 

 

 
Oak Ridge Site Specific Advisory Board  

October 2015 
 

Sunday 
 

Monday 
 

Tuesday 
 

Wednesday 
 

Thursday 
 

Friday 
 

Saturday 

    1 2 3 

4 5 6 7 
Executive 
Committee  
6 p.m. 

8 
 

9 10 

11 12 
Columbus Day  
DOE/Staff 
Holiday 

13 14 
Monthly SSAB 
meeting 
6 p.m. 

15 
 

16 17 

18 19 20 
 

21 22 23 24 

25 26 27 28 
Environmental 
Management & 
Stewardship 
Committee 
6 p.m. 

29 30 31 

 



DRAFT 

 
Many Voices Working for the Community 

Oak Ridge  
Site Specific Advisory Board 

 
 
 

 
Unapproved June 10, 2015 Meeting Minutes 

 
The Oak Ridge Site Specific Advisory Board (ORSSAB) held its monthly meeting on Wednesday, 
June 10, 2015, at the DOE Information Center, 1 Science.gov Way, Oak Ridge, Tenn., beginning at 
6 p.m. A video of the meeting was made and may be viewed by contacting ORSSAB support 
offices at (865) 241-4583 or 241-4584. The presentation portion of the video is available on the 
board’s YouTube site at www.youtube.com/user/ORSSAB/videos. 
 
Members Present 
Leon Baker 
Jimmy Bell 

Alfreda Cook 
Lisa Hagy, Secretary 
Bob Hatcher 

David Hemelright, Chair 

Howard Holmes 
Jennifer Kasten 

Terri Likens 
Fay Martin 
Donald Mei 
Greg Paulus 

Mary Smalling1 

Coralie Staley 
Scott Stout 

Ed Trujillo 
Wanfang Zhou

 
Members Absent 
Jan Lyons, Vice Chair 
Belinda Price 
 
1Participated by telephone hookup. 
 
Liaisons, Deputy Designated Federal Officer, and Federal Coordinator Present 
Dave Adler, ORSSAB Alternate Deputy Designated Federal Officer 
Kristof Czartoryski, Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation (TDEC) 
Susan Cange, Manager for Oak Ridge Environmental Management (EM) and ORSSAB Deputy  

Designated Federal Officer 
Melyssa Noe, ORSSAB Federal Coordinator, Department of Energy – Oak Ridge Office (DOE-

ORO) 
Connie Jones, Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Region 4. 
 
Others Present 
Steve Cooke, DOE 
Sophia Cui, Student Representative 
Steve Haase, RSI 
Alana Joldersma, Student Representative 
David Martin, chair Roane County Commission Environmental Review Board.  
Bill McMillan, DOE 
Pete Osborne, ORSSAB Support Office 
Ellen Smith, Oak Ridge City Council 
 

 

http://www.youtube.com/user/ORSSAB/videos


ORSSAB Meeting Minutes June 10, 2015 2 
 
 

Twenty-two members of the public were present. 
 
Liaison Comments 
Ms. Cange – On Friday, June 26 there will be a celebration of the completion of demolition of the 
K-31 Gaseous Diffusion Building at East Tennessee Technology Park (ETTP). Mark Whitney, the 
Acting Assistant Secretary for Environmental Management (EM) will be participating. He will be 
speaking at the East Tennessee Economics Council at 7:30 a.m. Afterwards a bus will be available 
to transport people to ETTP. Ms. Cange invited board members to attend the celebration at ETTP 
and advised them to contact Ms. Noe or ORSSAB staff if they would like to attend.  
 
K-27 is the only remaining gaseous diffusion building at ETTP. Ms. Cange said that building 
demolition should be completed by the end of 2016. 
 
Mr. Adler – no comments. 
 
Ms. Jones – no comments. 
 
Mr. Czartoryski – no comments. 
 
Public Comment 
Mr. Martin commended ORSSAB and DOE EM for publicizing this meeting regarding the status of 
the groundwater strategy for the Oak Ridge Reservation (ORR). Mr. Martin said the Roane County 
Commission Environmental Review Board meets the first Thursday of every month at 6 p.m. at the 
Roane County Courthouse except in July and December. More information about the board is 
available at http://roanecountytn.gov/county-commission/boards-and-commissions/environmental-
review-board/. 
 
Presentation 
The presentation was on the ORR Groundwater Strategy Status. The presenters were Mr. 
McMillan, Mr. Cooke, and Mr. Haase. The main points of the presentation are in Attachment 1.  
 
Mr. McMillan began by saying that prior to 2013 there was evidence in monitoring wells around the 
ORR of possible migration of contaminants. DOE, EPA, and TDEC decided to conduct a series of 
workshops to better understand groundwater characteristics on the ORR and develop a strategy for 
groundwater management. 
 
Six workshops were held in 2013, and all of the available information about groundwater plumes 
associated with the three watersheds on the ORR was compiled. The information was used to 
develop a modified hazard ranking system to rank the plumes and possible associated projects. A 
groundwater strategy was developed to implement a path forward for managing groundwater 
challenges (Attachment 1, page 3). 
 
Mr. McMillan said the objective of the strategy is to support decision making and identify actions to 
protect off-site human health and the environment; protect groundwater; restore to beneficial use 
where practicable; and achieve final cleanup (Attachment 1, page 3).  
 
Using the hazard ranking system 35 plumes on the ORR were identified as having contaminants of 
concern at depths of 100 to 400 feet (Attachment 1, page 4). Thirty-six projects were defined that 
focus on additional investigations to fill data gaps, conducting any early actions, or identifying other 
projects based on findings. To manage the work Mr. McMillan said a program was set up to 
implement the strategy to prioritize and investigate plumes and data gaps, identify any actions that 
may be needed, and incorporate those actions into cleanup decisions. The first priority was to 

http://roanecountytn.gov/county-commission/boards-and-commissions/environmental-review-board/
http://roanecountytn.gov/county-commission/boards-and-commissions/environmental-review-board/


ORSSAB Meeting Minutes June 10, 2015 3 
 
 

perform an off-site groundwater assessment to address potential for off-site risk. The off-site 
assessment was identified as part of the “Melton Valley Exit Pathway from Undetermined Sources” 
project in the groundwater strategy. Mr. McMillan said this project had the highest potential for off-
site migration. The study is evaluating the potential for migration from Melton Valley to areas west 
of the Clinch River. A final report on the assessment is due the first quarter of FY 2017. Mr. 
McMillan said any subsequent projects will be determined by the outcome of the first project.  Mr. 
McMillan also said that a regional flow model is being developed as an action conducted as part of 
the implementation of the groundwater strategy.  The model is being developed by an independent 
team of experts in karst geohydrology.  
 
Mr. Cooke provided further information about the offsite groundwater assessment.  Mr. Cooke said 
DOE, EPA, and TDEC developed a Remedial Site Evaluation Work Plan for the off-site assessment. 
The purpose was to determine if there are hazardous substances in off-site groundwater, if they are 
related to ORR plumes, if any health threat is associated with them, and if any DOE action is 
required. In the fall of 2014 DOE began talking with property owners at locations west of the Clinch 
River with potential for sampling. Agreements were made with a number of owners and sampling 
began in the winter. Mr. Cooke said 43 locations were sampled, 32 wells and 11 springs (Attachment 
1, page 11). Another sampling of these same locations is scheduled for this summer. 
 
Three of the sites exceeded EPA National Primary Drinking Water Standards. Exceeded levels were 
found for lead at one location, lead and gross alpha activity at another (that location was re-sampled 
in April with no indication of gross alpha activity), and combined radium-226 and radium-228 at the 
third (Attachment 1, page 12). Mr. Cooke said there were other detections at very low levels, and the 
team is trying to understand if those detections are associated with naturally occurring radon or other 
background constituents. He said that DOE, TDEC, and TDH are evaluating the screening data, and 
that this analysis process will help inform the implementation of the next steps in the groundwater 
strategy. 
 
Mr. Cooke said a communications matrix has been developed to share information among agencies 
(DOE/TDEC/TDH) and the public (Attachment 1, page 13). 
 
Another part of the groundwater strategy is the development of a groundwater model for the ORR. 
Mr. Haase said the model would be a “powerful tool for planning and decision making.” 
 
The model will be used on a regional scale to investigate groundwater conditions in the area of the 
ORR. Mr. Haase said the model is in its first stages, but will ultimately serve as an excellent platform 
to answer ‘what if’ questions and to address site specific questions as remediation decisions are 
evaluated (Attachment 1, page14). 
 
A model area has been identified that encompasses much of the ORR, an area of 250 square miles 
(Attachment 1, page 16). A software program called Earth Vision has been selected to develop the 
model. Mr. Haase said one of the most difficult things in Oak Ridge is getting a handle on the 
complex geology of the area. Earth Vision uses data collected over 40 years to visualize and develop 
layers, which can be put into the groundwater model. 
 
Also being used is a U.S. Geological Survey numeric flow model called MODFLOW-USG. Mr. 
Haase said MODFLOW is an industry standard for groundwater modeling. The most recent version, 
MODFLOW-USG, provides the capability of dealing with complex geology. Mr. Haase said Oak 
Ridge is one of the first sites in the world to use MODFLOW-USG with a geology as complex as 
Oak Ridge.  
 
The modelling team evaluated the integration between MODFLOW-USG and Earth Vision. A test 



ORSSAB Meeting Minutes June 10, 2015 4 
 
 

case was done using the geology of Y-12 National Security Complex and Bear Creek Valley, which 
has a large amount of available geologic data. The test was successful, and the model has been 
expanded to the 250-square mile modeling area. The steps in developing the model are illustrated on 
pages 17-19 of Attachment 1. 
 
Mr. Haase said a working model will provide a good basis for modeling groundwater through a 
number of scenarios. It can be used it to help place off-site monitoring locations and evaluate various 
options of the kinds of remedial actions to take.  
 
Mr. McMillan concluded the presentation saying the next steps include an FY 2018 milestone for the 
Remedial Investigation Work Plan. The milestone is a placeholder for the next priority project to be 
determined, such as a project to install or sample existing wells in Melton Valley or Bear Creek 
Valley to better understand contaminant plumes and reduce data gaps. Other possible projects are 
addressing groundwater issues in the hydrofracture area of Melton Valley, the ETTP Sitewide 
Treatability Study, and the Bethel Valley 7000 area (Attachment 1, page 20). He said the selection of 
the project will be developed by DOE, EPA, and TDEC, will depend on the results of off-site 
assessments and plume rankings.  
 
Mr. McMillan said the activity with the modeling effort, the groundwater plumes, and the 
understanding and filling of data gaps is all driven to support early actions and to develop strategies 
for incorporating final records of decision for cleanup of the ORR. 
 
A summary of the progress of the groundwater strategy is reported annually in the Remediation 
Effectiveness Report. 
 
After the presentation a number of questions were asked. Following are abridged questions and 
answers. 
 
Mr. Bell – You have not proven any release of radioactivity off-site. You’ve had indications at one 
time and not another. To prove it you’re going to have to get repeated indications. Mr. Cooke – We 
have detected radionuclides at very low levels. This is partly a research project using very low 
detection levels. When you do that you’re going to pick up things. We’re trying to figure out what 
the source is. Mr. Bell – The objective is to determine if you have an off-site release and your data 
do not show you have an off-site release because you have to get repeated indications. So how do 
you respond to a land owner about your data? Mr. McMillan – We’re not saying we have any final 
data. What we did want to do with the property owners was to give them some feedback on the 
samples taken initially, and we’re continuing the study with another round of sampling this summer 
and another round of sampling in FY 2016 to see if the readings are repeated. We felt obligated to 
give landowners some feedback, which is based on whether their health is being impacted. TDEC 
and the Tennessee Department of Health are helping us with that communication. Mr. Bell – Are 
concerned about causing alarm among landowners? Mr. Haase – As mentioned the readings are 
quite low, in some cases lower than what is required to be reported by regulatory monitoring. One 
of the reasons we’re doing that is to look at the leading edge of something we might be finding. 
One of disadvantages, especially with radionuclides, is you’re down in the area above detection 
limits, but below the limit you can quantify with 90 percent or more certainty. One way to evaluate 
that is with repeat sampling. They may be the leading edge of contamination from the ORR; it may 
be fallout. That’s something that is not well understand is the amount of fallout during the testing 
period.  
 
Mr. Bell – Should you determine there is an off-site release what will DOE do? Ms. Cange – The 
first thing we have to do is to determine if it’s coming from the ORR. There is the possibility that 
there can be detections of radionuclides that come from radon or from naturally occurring 



ORSSAB Meeting Minutes June 10, 2015 5 
 
 

constituents in the environment. If there is something coming from the ORR that exceeds health 
limits, we’ll consult with the Tennessee Department of Health and determine the proper actions 
regarding someone’s well water. Remember that a number of our sampling locations are seeps and 
not water that is used by residents.  
 
Mr. Czartoryski –TDEC has established that contamination has moved under the Clinch River. We 
are looking at preliminary data of the off-site effort. DOE is looking at very small amounts of 
transuranics. Transuranics are not naturally occurring elements. It’s too early to make any 
conclusions. We also are looking at some fission products. We’re looking at some naturally 
occurring radionuclides that could also be daughters of the radioactivity disposed on the other side 
of the river. Hydrofracture disposed a lot of radioactivity very deep at levels that can travel under 
the Clinch River. They will not necessarily appear in surface water. Due to the very complicated 
hydrogeology with the springs, dry seasons, wet seasons, and so on, we might find something in 
samples that we might not find the next time we sample. To answer the question about what DOE 
would do I can only say what the state of Tennessee does. Our health department contacts residents 
when we have indications that primary drinking water maximum contaminant limits are exceeded, 
we advise residents about securing different sources of drinking water. So there is a benefit of this 
process. It’s too early to say potentially how far a plume may travel from the ORR. We know that 
the plume in Melton Valley has already passed the picket wells there. So there is no other place for 
picket wells except on the west side of the river. DOE has already purchased water rights from 
some residents, and water was provided to some residents whose water sources were deemed 
unsafe. The state is not only concerned about current risk, but future risk to residents.  
 
Mr. Hatcher – Why in your sampling when you recorded a null set you didn’t go back and 
immediately re-sample until you got a representative sample? Mr. Haase – The hydrogeologic area 
has a dry season and wet season. You can have appreciable concentration differences, especially in 
surface water, depending on the season. The initial puzzle to solve was how to get the best data for 
the best value. We focused on getting a dry season round of samples and then a wet season. In the 
case of the well that showed alpha activity, we re-sampled it immediately, and it turns out that well 
has radon in it. Now that we know what to look for about half of the wells sampled have radon in 
them. If  we have something above maximum contaminant limits we would re-sample immediately; 
if not we’d wait and see what we got in the dry season.  
 
Ms. Kasten – Have you looked at it from the standpoint of short-lived daughter products that can be 
used that maybe are coming from a source of a long-lived parent and use it as a way to try to 
understand the flow paths of contamination? Mr. Haase – That’s exactly what we’re doing with the 
radon example. The daughters that we see and couldn’t explain before we realized there was radon 
are an isotope of bismuth and an isotope of lead that have 20 minute half-lives. By paying attention 
to when the analyses were collected, when they analyzed, and looking at what appears and 
disappears due to radioactive activity we can get some idea of at least where the connections are 
within the different parts of the aquifer. Ms. Kasten – What is the potential movement of uranium 
from hydrofracture that there might be some short-lived daughter products that may be moving 
from that area? Mr. Haase – The issue with hydrofracture is that it is so deep and we have so few 
sampling points to get down to the water that’s around it. With the level of data we’ve collected we 
don’t see that happening, but a lot of the nuclides injected into the hydrofracture have quite long 
half-lives. So it takes a while for the daughters to kick in. It depends on where they are in the decay 
chain. But to answer your question, yes, we’re trying to use all the tricks we can come up with to 
figure out what’s going on.  
 
Mr. Burroughs – I wonder if you’ve collected any background data with this cutting edge 
technique. Mr. Czartoryski – We have a project of collecting background data that we have not 
initiated yet but will begin soon. 



ORSSAB Meeting Minutes June 10, 2015 6 
 
 

 
Mr. Trujillo – The wells and springs that were sampled, did they have any association with on-site 
contamination? Mr. Haase – We had about 100 potential sampling locations. We looked at them in 
terms of what we understood about the construction and depths of the wells. We stayed away from 
wells less than 20 feet deep. We wanted wells down in the bedrock. Some people didn’t want their 
wells sampled. We tried to select on depth and location. It’s a matter of making the best choices we 
can with the available choices to choose from. 
 
Mr. Trujillo – There is the sampling effort and the modeling effort. What feeds what?  Mr. Haase – 
We have water level maps that show what the surface configuration of the water table is. We can 
use that information for some insight as to where we want to find wells to sample. The issue is 
when you get deeper because the heads that drive water levels in the deeper wells are not related to 
the surface. In the picket wells we measure the heads in each well and you can work out whether 
there is an upward gradient or a downward gradient. You can’t do that with just one well. But wells 
are expensive to drill. This is where we hope the model will give some insight as to what kind of 
hydrogeologic conditions to expect. 
 
Mr. Zhou – A question about modeling. On one of your slides you show the model domain, which 
is a rectangle. What is the rationale behind that decision? Mr. Haase – We try to balance getting an 
area as big as we thought we could extrapolate the existing data. When you’re out on the edge of 
that rectangle there are very few data points. We have to make a huge extrapolation. That’s going to 
be a problem for our model. For most of the plumes we have data that we can do better quality 
monitoring. When we picked that area we tried to balance how far we felt comfortable pushing the 
data and how big of an area we thought we could get in. Some of the areas we’re writing off as no 
flow boundaries. We are not going to model them even though they are within the rectangle 
because we have no data. Mr. Zhou – So in those areas of little data you’re going to have to 
extrapolate back. How accurate is that going to be? Mr. Haase – At least with the test case we have 
enough data that we can begin to do some calibrations. In other words we can check water levels 
and we can check flows. The calibrations so far are good. When we get away from that, that’s one 
of the problems of the far edges of the domain; there are very few places we can calibrate and 
check the model. The model at that point becomes a numerical experiment. You can use it to 
evaluate plausible scenarios and see if it can give you some insight as to which one may be the 
most plausible.  
 
Mr. Paulus – Are there any specific contaminants that you are more concerned with off-site? Mr. 
Haase – In the initial CERCLA (Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and 
Liability Act) actions for Oak Ridge sites a list of contaminants of concern was identified so we 
focus on those, but the list is quite large. There are some signature contaminants like nitrates, 
uranium, strontium, cesium; those are some of the major constituents. If we see nitrates and 
uranium together that takes precedence that we’re looking at something from Y-12.  
 
Ms. Smith – Are wells installed by DOE on the west side of the river still being sampled and can 
they be used for a rigorous program for evaluating what is potentially moving so we can gain some 
scientific value from that work? Mr. Adler – They are still being sampled. It is a collection of wells 
drilled to four separate depths. They are up and out of the river valley. The purpose was to get a 
handle on which direction groundwater flows. There were two wells where we went to property 
owners wells and modified them (with their permission) to make them more useful for us for 
monitoring purposes. So we have a collection of wells. Some drilled with the purpose of high 
quality monitoring and another set that are not quite as good because they were drilled for drinking 
water supply. So we sample and learn what we can from that combination of wells. Ms.  
Smith – We are trying to understand what’s happening on the other side of the river. A high priority  
 



ORSSAB Meeting Minutes June 10, 2015 7 
 
 

should be placed on a systematic collection of data. The monitoring may go on for years and still 
may not have basis for making decisions. 
 
Ms. Smith – I was pleased to hear the validation of the model in the Y-12 area. Is that validation 
limited to steady state groundwater flow parameters or you can move on to anything else? What are 
the plans for moving on? Mr. Haase – Right now it is steady state. As the situation evolves I can see 
where we’ll have to go into transient conditions, but that is not something we’re working on now. 
We’re trying to get the best job done for something we can use to set baseline conditions. 
 
Committee Reports 
EM & Stewardship – Ms. Staley reported that the committee met on May 20 and agreed on the draft 
recommendation on the DOE Oak Ridge EM FY 2017 Budget Request that was passed at this 
meeting (Attachment 2, see Announcements). 
 
There was a follow up discussion on the May 13 ORSSAB meeting with Oak Ridge City Manager 
Mark Watson. The committee did not take any action on that meeting. 
 
The committee will meet again on June 17 and have a follow up discussion on the ORR 
Groundwater Strategy discussed at this meeting. 
 
Executive – Mr. Hemelright said the committee met on May 27 and also discussed the May 13 
ORSSAB meeting with Mr. Watson. Mr. Hemelright said the takeaway message of the meeting was 
that while there may be better sites for waste disposal in the western United States there are other 
considerations of risk in transportation and cost.  
 
The committee reviewed the draft recommendation on the DOE Oak Ridge EM FY 2017 Budget 
Request (Attachment 2) and approved it to go before the board for consideration at this meeting. 
 
Mr. Hemelright reported that the Earth Day celebration went well and many people visited the 
ORSSAB exhibit. 
 
The committee approved some travel requests for the Fall EM SSAB Chairs’ meeting and the EPA 
Community Involvement Training Conference. ORSSAB will host the Spring 2016 Chairs’ 
meeting. Mr. Hemelright said he’d like to see a presentation on the Land Use Manager made at that 
meeting. 
 
The ORSSAB annual meeting will be held August 22 at the Tremont Lodge in Townsend, Tenn. 
There will be a Friday evening get together as well. Jenny Freeman will facilitate the meeting.  
 
Ms. Staley reported on the Center for Oak Ridge Oral History. She said it appears the grant to 
continue gathering oral histories will be renewed.  
 
She has been the ORSSAB representative on the center’s board for three years. She said she is 
willing to continue, but if any other member is interested in the position she would relinquish. The 
center meets monthly on Thursday at 9 a.m.  
 
Announcements and Other Board Business 
ORSSAB’s next scheduled meeting will be its Annual Planning Meeting on Saturday, August 22, at 
the Tremont Lodge in Townsend, Tenn.  
 
Ms. Joldersma and Ms. Cui were introduced as the new student representatives to the board. 
 



ORSSAB Meeting Minutes June 10, 2015 8 
 
 

Mr. Bell and Ms. Martin were recognized for their service to the board. 
 
The minutes of the February 11 meeting were approved. 
 
The minutes of the March 11 meeting were approved. 
 
The minutes of the May 13 meeting were approved.  
 
The Recommendation of the FY 2017 DOE Oak Ridge EM Budget Request was approved 
(Attachment 2). 
 
The EM SSAB Recommendation on the Creation of a Plan and Timetable to Restore the Waste 
Isolation Pilot Plant to Safe Operations was approved (Attachment 3). 
 
Federal Coordinator Report 
Ms. Noe said three new members have been approved to begin their terms in July. 
 
Motions 
6/10/15.1 
Mr. Paulus moved to approve the minutes of the February 11 meeting.  Mr. Baker seconded and 
motion passed unanimously. 
 
6/10/15.2 
Mr. Paulus moved to approve the minutes of the March 11 meeting. Ms. Likens seconded and the 
motion passed unanimously. 
 
6/10/15.3 
Mr. Baker moved to approve the minutes of the May 13 meeting. Mr. Paulus seconded and the 
motion passed unanimously. 
 
6/10/15.4 
Mr. Hatcher moved to approve the Recommendation on the FY 2017 DOE Oak Ridge EM Budget 
Request. Ms. Cook seconded and the motion passed unanimously. 
 
6/10/15.5 
Mr. Hatcher moved to approve the EM SSAB Recommendation on the Waste Isolation Pilot Plant. 
Ms. Martin seconded and the motion passed unanimously. 
 
6/10/15.6 
Mr. Hemelright asked for volunteers for a Nominating Committee to secure nominees for board 
officers for FY 2016. Ms. Price had indicated earlier she would be willing to serve. Ms. Smalling 
indicated she would be willing to serve. There were no other volunteers. Mr. Hatcher moved to 
approve Ms. Price and Ms. Smalling as the Nominating Committee. Ms. Hagy seconded and the 
motion passed unanimously. 
 
Action items 
None. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:07 p.m. 
 
Attachments (3) to these minutes are available on request from the ORSSAB support office. 
 



ORSSAB Meeting Minutes June 10, 2015 9 
 
 

 
I certify that these minutes are an accurate account of the June 10, 2015, meeting of the Oak Ridge 
Site Specific Advisory Board. 
   
 
Dave Hemelright, Chair                                              DATE 
Oak Ridge Site Specific Advisory Board 
DH/rsg 



Oak Ridge Site Specific Advisory Board 

Oak Ridge Site Specific Advisory Board 

Nominating Committee Proposed Slate of Candidates 
for Board Officers for FY 2016 

Belinda Price – Chair 

Mary Smalling – Vice Chair 

Dave Hemelright - Secretary 



RReeccoommmmeennddaattiioonn  RReessppoonnssee  TTrraacckkiinngg  CChhaarrtt  
ffoorr  FFYY  22001155  

 
 
 

 
Date 

 
To 

 
Recommendation 

 

 
Originating 
Committee 

 
Response 

Date 

 
Response Status 

 
Committee Review  

of Response 

1. 6-10-15 Sue Cange 
Recommendation 228 on 
the FY 2017 DOE Oak 
Ridge EM Budget Request 

EM & 
Stewardship 
and Budget 
& Process 

7/1/15 DOE sent the recommendation to HQ along with its 
budget request.  

 

2-2-15 



- 1 - September 9, 2015 

ETTP July August
Zone 1 ROD EPA comments on the D3 Zone 1 Final Soils Proposed Plan were 

received.  A D4 Proposed Plan will be required.
A comment resolution meeting on the D3 Proposed Plan was 
conducted with the regulators.  Preparation of the D4 Proposed Plan 
was initiated.

Zone 2 ROD Characterization of EUs Z2-20, 21, and 22 (Building K-25 footprint) 
is ongoing.  Preliminary results were discussed with EPA and TDEC.

K-25/K-27 D&D K-27 deactivation is 86.2 percent complete.  Foaming of the process 
gas piping and equipment is 96 percent complete.  

K-27 deactivation is 91.5 percent complete.  Foaming of the process 
gas piping and equipment is 99 percent complete.  

Process Gas Equipment in Buildings 402-8 and 402-9 are 91 
percent complete.

Process Gas Equipment in Buildings 402-8 and 402-9 are 95 
percent complete.

The K-27 pipe removal activities are 97 percent complete. The K-27 pipe removal activities are 99 percent complete. 
The K-27 RmAWP was approved by the regulators. The K-27 project also initiated transite panel removal.
The K-27 WHP for Process Gas Equipment was approved by the 
regulators.

The K-27 FY 2014 Demolition Report was approved by the 
regulators.

K-31 Demolition Overall demolition is 99 percent complete.  Demolition debris 
disposal is 90 percent complete.  

K-31 topsoil, hydro seeding, and Storm Water Pollution Prevention 
Plan berm removal activities have been completed.
K-903 pad debris hauling is 50 percent complete and the truck alley 
drain installation is 75 percent complete.

Remaining Facilities The FY 2014 PCCR for the Predominantly Uncontaminated Facilities 
was approved by the regulators.

ORNL July August
U-233 Disposition The Critical Decision for Building 2026 Processing Preparation 

Project was approved.
The contract negotiations with Isotek Systems, LLC were completed 
on Contract Change Proposal 27 for the incurred costs associated 
with the increases in Safeguards and Security staffing.

Review of the first revision of the Safety Design Strategy was 
completed.

The Safety Design Strategy for the Processing Campaign was 
approved.

Process began for procurement of the two replacement back-up 
diesel generators for Building 3019.

OR Research 
Reactor Pool Seep

Preparation activities continue for removal of irradiated components 
from the pool at the ORRR.  The Safety Evaluation Report for the 
Hazard Assessment Document Addendum was approved.

Completed removal of irradiated components from the ORRR pool, 
loaded them into the shipping cask, and shipped the cask.

Y-12 Site July August
Outfall 200 Mercury 
Treatment Facility 
(MTF)

The Focused Feasibility Study was approved by the regulators.  The 
Proposed Plan has been prepared and is under review by the 
regulators.

The Proposed Plan was approved by the regulators and a public 
meeting scheduled for September 2nd.

Preliminary design of the OF 200 MTF is proceeding with completion 
of the Preliminary Design Report currently scheduled for early 2016.

Preliminary design of the OF 200 MTF is proceeding.  Site survey is 
complete and site geotechnical and environmental characterization 
is in progress.

EM Project Update



- 2 - September 9, 2015 

EM Project Update
Off-Site 
Cleanup/Waste 
Management

July August

Environmental 
Management 
Disposal Facility 
(EMDF)

Home visits were done with Scarboro community residents and 
information was provided to them on the proposed EMDF.

A variety of local dignitaries and members of the Oak Ridge City 
Council were provided tours of the EMWMF and proposed EMDF.  
Comments were received from EPA and TDEC on the RI/FS.  
Comment resolution meetings have started.

ORR Groundwater 
Strategy

A meeting was held with the regulators to discuss results of the 
Offsite Groundwater Assessment FY 2015 Q2 (second quarter) 
sampling event and the upcoming FY 2015 Q4 (fourth quarter) 
sampling event.

The second round of sampling of wells and springs located west of 
Oak Ridge Reservation is underway.  There are 32 wells and 16 
springs being sampled. 

An Oak Ridge Reservation regional groundwater modeling effort is 
ongoing.

Water Resources 
Restoration Program 

Regulator comments on the D1 2015 Remediation Effectiveness 
Report were received and responses to these comments are being 
prepared.

A meeting was held with the regulators to review responses to 
comments on the D1 2015 Remediation Effectiveness Report.  A D2 
version is being prepared.

Reindustrialization OREM hosted a public information session about the recently 
released draft Environmental Assessment for proposed property 
transfer.  The draft document evaluates the potential impacts of 
transferring approx. 170 acres of DOE property located at ETTP to 
the Knoxville Metro Airport Authority for constructing and operating a 
general aviation airport.  The meeting attracted more than 60 area 
residents.



Abbreviations/Acronyms List for Environmental Management Project Update 
 

AM – action memorandum 

ARRA – American Recovery and Reinvestment Act 

BCV – Bear Creek Valley 

BG – burial grounds 

BV- Bethel Valley 

CARAR – Capacity Assurance Remedial Action Report 

CBFO – Carlsbad Field Office 

CERCLA – Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation  
and Liability Act 

CEUSP – Consolidated Edison Uranium Solidification Project 

CD – critical decision 

CH – contact handled 

CNF – Central Neutralization Facility 

CS – construction start 

CY – calendar year 

D&D – decontamination and decommissioning 

DOE – Department of Energy 

DSA – documented safety analysis 

DQO – data quality objective 

EE/CA – engineering evaluation/cost analysis 

EM – environmental management 

1 

 



EMDF – Environmental Management Disposal Facility 

EMWMF – Environmental Management Waste Management Facility 

EPA – Environmental Protection Agency 

ETTP – East Tennessee Technology Park 

EU – exposure unit 

EV – earned value 

FFA – Federal Facility Agreement 

FFS – Focused Feasibility Study 

FPD – federal project director 

FY – fiscal year 

GIS – geographical information system 

GW – groundwater 

GWTS –groundwater treatability study 

IROD – Interim Record of Decision 

LEFPC – Lower East Fork Poplar Creek 

LLW – low-level waste 

MLLW – mixed low-level waste 

MSRE – Molten Salt Reactor Experiment 

MTF – Mercury Treatment Facility 

MV – Melton Valley 

NaF – sodium fluoride 

NDA – non-destructive assay 

2 

 



NEPA – National Environmental Policy Act 

NPL – National Priorities List 

NNSS – Nevada National Security Site (new name of Nevada Test Site) 

NTS – Nevada Test Site 

OR – Oak Ridge 

OREM – Oak Ridge Office of Environmental Management 

ORNL – Oak Ridge National Laboratory 

ORO – Oak Ridge Office 

ORR – Oak Ridge Reservation 

ORRR- Oak Ridge Research Reactor 

ORRS – operational readiness reviews 

PaR – trade name of remote manipulator at the Transuranic Waste  
Processing Center 

PCB - polychlorinated biphenyls 

PCCR – Phased Construction Completion Report 

PM – project manager 

PP – Proposed Plan 

PPE – Personal Protective Equipment 

QAPP – Quality Assurance Project Plan 

RA – remedial action 

RAR – Remedial Action Report 

RAWP – Remedial Action Work Plan 

RCRA – Resource Conservation Recovery Act 
3 

 



RDR – Remedial Design Report 

RDWP – Remedial Design Work Plan 

RER – Remediation Effectiveness Report 

RH – remote handled 

RI/FS – Remedial Investigation/Feasibility Study  

RIWP – Remedial Investigation Work Plan 

RmAR – Removal Action Report 

RmAWP – Removal Action Work Plan 

ROD – Record of Decision 

RUBB – trade name of a temporary, fabric covered enclosure 

S&M – surveillance and maintenance 

SAP – sampling analysis plan 

SEC – Safety and Ecology Corp. 

SEP – supplemental environmental project 

STP – site treatment plan 

SW – surface water 

SWSA – solid waste storage area 

Tc – technetium 

TC – time critical 

TDEC – Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation 

TRU – transuranic  

TSCA – Toxic Substances Control Act 

4 

 



TWPC – Transuranic Waste Processing Center 

U – uranium 

UEFPC – Upper East Fork Poplar Creek 

UPF – Uranium Processing Facility 

URS/CH2M – (UCOR) DOE’s prime cleanup contractor 

VOC – volatile organic compound 

WAC – waste acceptance criteria 

WEMA – West End Mercury Area (at Y-12) 

WHP – Waste Handling Plan 

WIPP – Waste Isolation Pilot Plant 

WRRP – Water Resources Restoration Program 

WWSY – White Wing Scrap Yard 

Y-12 – Y-12 National Security Complex 

ZPR – Zero Power Reactor 

5 

 



Travel Opportunities

Meeting/Event Dates Location
Reg. 
Cost Website

Conference 
Lock Date; # 

Allocated 
Attendees

Deadline to 
Submit 

Requests

Waste Management Symposium   
(Attendees: Price) March 15-19, 2015 Phoenix $1,035 www.wmsym.org 11/1/14 (# 

attendees 1) 10/22/14

National Environmental Justice 
Conference & Training   Attendees: 
Kasten, Martin)

March 11-13, 2015 Washington, D.C. none http://thenejc.org N/A 1/28/15

Spring Chairs Meeting Attendees: 
Cook, Hatcher, Hemelright) April 21-23, 2015 Augusta, GA none N/A 2/25/15

2015 U.S. EPA Community 
Involvement Training Conference  
(Attendees: Cook)

August 4-6, 2015 Atlanta, GA none www.epa.gov/ciconferenc
e N/A 6/24/15

Fall Chairs Meeting  (Attendees: 
Hemelright) September 1-3, 2015 Santa Fe, NM none N/A 7/29/15

Ohio EPA National Brownfields 
Conference  (Pending requests: ___) September 2-4, 2015 Columbus, Ohio $125 http://www.brownfieldscon

ference.org/en/home 7/29/15

RadWaste Summit September 8-11, 2015 Summerlin, Nevada $625 http://radwastesummit.co
m/ 7/29/15

Perma-Fix Nuclear Waste 
Management Forum (Bi-annual event) 
Attendees: Hemelright)

Nov. 30 - Dec. 3, 2015 Nashville $500 

http://events.constantcont
act.com/register/event?llr=
8n5x6qkab&oeidk=a07eb
edtkdrb8c2e800 

9/24/2015 8/26/15

Intergovernmental Meeting with DOE 
(Pending requests: ___)

Fall 2015 (probably 
October or November) TBD none

Western Waste Site Tour (Tentative 
requests: Hagy, Hatcher, Lyons, Mei, 
Paulus, Price, Smalling)

Postponed pending 
resolution of issues at 
WIPP

Waste Isolation 
Pilot Plant, Nevada 
Nat'l Security Site

none none

Shading indicates closed trips

FY 2015

http://www.wmsym.org/
http://thenejc.org/
http://www.brownfieldsconference.org/en/home
http://www.brownfieldsconference.org/en/home
http://radwastesummit.com/
http://radwastesummit.com/
http://events.constantcontact.com/register/event?llr=8n5x6qkab&oeidk=a07ebedtkdrb8c2e800
http://events.constantcontact.com/register/event?llr=8n5x6qkab&oeidk=a07ebedtkdrb8c2e800
http://events.constantcontact.com/register/event?llr=8n5x6qkab&oeidk=a07ebedtkdrb8c2e800
http://events.constantcontact.com/register/event?llr=8n5x6qkab&oeidk=a07ebedtkdrb8c2e800


Travel Opportunities

Meeting/Event Dates Location
Reg. 
Cost Website

Conference 
Lock Date; # 

Allocated 
Attendees

Deadline to 
Submit 

Requests

National Environmental Justice 
Conference & Training   (Pending 
requests: ___)

Washington, D.C. none http://thenejc.org N/A

Waste Management Symposium  
(Pending requests: Hemelright, Price) March 6-10, 2016 Phoenix $995 

(est.) www.wmsym.org 11/1/2015 9/23/15

Fall Chairs Meeting   (Pending 
requests: ___) TBD none N/A

Ohio EPA National Brownfields 
Conference  (Pending requests: ___) Columbus, Ohio $125 http://www.brownfieldscon

ference.org/en/home

RadWaste Summit  (Pending requests: 
___) Summerlin, Nevada $625 http://radwastesummit.co

m/

Intergovernmental Meeting with DOE 
(Pending requests: ___) TBD none

Western Waste Site Tour (Tentative 
requests: Hagy, Hatcher, Lyons, Mei, 
Paulus, Price, Smalling)

Postponed pending 
resolution of issues at 
WIPP

Waste Isolation 
Pilot Plant, Nevada 
Nat'l Security Site

none none

Shading indicates closed trips

FY 2016

http://thenejc.org/
http://www.brownfieldsconference.org/en/home
http://www.brownfieldsconference.org/en/home
http://radwastesummit.com/
http://radwastesummit.com/


 
 1 

 
Oak Ridge Site Specific Advisory Board  

 
TRIP REPORT 

  
 
 

I. Name of Traveler:  Alfreda Cook   
 
II. Date(s) of Travel:  August 4-6, 2015  
 
III. Location of Meeting:  Atlanta Sheraton Hotel – Atlanta, GA  
 
IV. Name of Meeting:  2015 U.S. EPA Community Involvement Training Conference  
 
V. Purpose of Travel:  To learn about environmental community involvement, stewardship, 
outreach, and education programs, and to share information about ORSSAB’s involvement in 
these areas. 
  
VI. Discussion of Meeting:   
 
This biennial conference brought together over 500 individuals from the EPA and its partners 
and stakeholders to share approaches to community involvement, partnership, outreach, 
education programs, and stewardship.  The three-day conference featured plenary sessions with 
engaging guest speakers; a daily selection of 90-minute information sessions to choose from that 
highlighted ways in which communities have taken the forefront in cleanup activities and 
revitalization efforts; and ways to develop partnerships across organizations within communities 
to bring about change.  A daily selection of 3-, 4-, and 7-hour interactive training sessions offered 
in-depth discussion on topics such as “Saving Lives and Transforming Communities through 
Green Jobs”, and “Building Cultural Competence: Tools to Foster More Productive Community 
Relations”.   
 
In addition, three separate field trips were offered to environmentally or socially impacted areas 
in Atlanta that have benefited from community-led initiatives or partnerships between EPA and 
the community.  The field trips encompassed Proctor Creek – 16-square mile contaminated 
watershed; The Atlanta BeltLine – 22-mile loop of abandoned railroads converted into a corridor 
of trees, trails and transit; and Atlantic Station – model sustainable development that provides 
housing, employment, shopping, and entertainment in mid-downtown. 
 
ORSSAB attendees (Peter Osborne and I) staffed an exhibit at the conference Eco Cafe that 
highlighted the board’s community involvement efforts.  The exhibit was entitled “Citizens 
Advisory Board Takes Active Role in Cleanup of Department of Energy Site in Oak Ridge, 
Tennessee” and  displayed the many outreach methods that are currently utilized to engage the 
community including print media, social media, TV broadcasts, face-to-face meetings, and local 
museum exhibits.   A picture of the Eco Cafe exhibit is available from the ORSSAB office. 

 



 
 2 

 
 
VII. Significance to ORSSAB: 
 
The conference focused on the importance of community engagement in all aspects of change 
within a community.  The ORSSAB is an avenue for engagement related to environmental 
cleanup of the Oak Ridge Reservation such that community members may feel empowered to 
participate in decision making processes. 
 
VIII. Names & Telephone Numbers of Significant Contacts: 
 
Maggie Breville – EPA, Washington, DC 
Sr. Environmental Scientist, National Center for Environmental Research (related to grants) 
Ph: 703-347-8050 
 
IX. Action Items: 
 
None 
 
X. Traveler’s Signature & Date: 
 
 
Signature:   On file     Date:     8/17/15 



Oak Ridge Site Specific Advisory Board 
 

TRIP REPORT 
  
 
 
I. Name of Traveler: Pete Osborne 

II. Date(s) of Travel: August 4–6, 2015 

III. Location of Meeting: Atlanta Sheraton Hotel – Atlanta, GA 

IV. Name of Meeting: 2015 EPA Community Involvement Training Conference 

V. Purpose of Travel: To gather new ideas for community outreach 

VI. Discussion of Meeting: 
 
This conference brought together more than 450 people from EPA, its partners, and stakeholders who 
plan and implement environmental community involvement, partnership, stewardship, outreach, and 
education programs. 
 
The three-day event featured plenary sessions with guest speakers, topical discussions, multiple 90-minute 
information sessions, and dozens of interactive 3-, 4-, and 7-hour training sessions. The conference also 
included field trips demonstrating the power of effective community involvement and cooperative 
conservation efforts in the Atlanta area, an ‘Eco Café’, exhibits, and networking opportunities. The 
conference website is located at www.epa.gov/ciconference.  
 
Conference sessions are organized by the following four tracks: 
Track 1 — Where to Begin: Creating and Maintaining Effective Community Involvement 
Track 2 — The Art of Leveraging Existing Capacity and Resources in Community Involvement 
Track 3 — Healthy Environment & Healthy Economy = A Sustainable Community 
Track 4 — Communication & Community Engagement: Traditional Methods to Contemporary 
Technologies 
 
I followed Track 4, which seemed to focus more on the types of engagement activities that would pertain 
most to the relatively mature nature of the ORSSAB public involvement program and which would also 
be of interest to me.  
 
Prior to the conference, ORSSAB was invited to submit an application to have a Eco Café station where 
we could share whatever we thought would be most pertinent and interesting to conference attendees. Our 
submission was accepted, and I worked with Alfreda Cook, Jan Lyons, DOE’s Ben Williams, and the 
DOE Graphics Department to develop a poster and materials for the display.  
 
The Eco Café, which was a central location for the entire training conference, provided attendees with a 
hands-on opportunity to learn from a wide variety of community involvement practitioners about different 
involvement tools and resources. The Eco Café was the main focus of the Tuesday evening reception but 
was also open throughout the conference.  
 
Our exhibit was entitled “Citizens Advisory Board Takes Active Role in Cleanup of Department of 
Energy Site in Oak Ridge, Tennessee” and displayed the many outreach methods that are currently 

1 
 



utilized to engage the community, including print media, social media, TV broadcasts, face-to-face 
meetings, and local museum exhibits. Alfreda Cook and I staffed the exhibit during the reception.  
 

 
 
This was my third EPA training conference, and they are without doubt some of the most efficiently run 
conferences I have attended. This one was extremely well organized, and the conference materials were 
outstanding. The meeting venue was spacious and nice, and the range of sessions was outstanding, 
offering something for a wide variety of public involvement practitioners.  
 
Of all the sessions I attended, the most engaging was “BUILT: An Engagement Tool for Community 
Dialogue and Understanding.” Session participants played a very ingenious game in which they had to 
work with the people at their table to create a neighborhood of diverse elements—some desirable, some 
not, such as schools, jails, coffeehouses, sewage treatment plants, etc. By engaging in a civic planning 
simulation, participants learned how to work together to identify values and priorities within a 
community. Two even more complex rounds followed, leading to a large number of people with 
competing values learning how to work together to build a whole community. 
 
In addition to the conference sessions, I participated in two field trips to environmentally or socially 
impacted areas in Atlanta that have benefited from community-led initiatives or partnerships between 
EPA and the community: the Atlanta BeltLine (a 22-mile loop of abandoned railroads converted into a 
corridor of trees, trails and transit), and Atlantic Station (a model of sustainable development that 
provides housing, employment, shopping, and entertainment in mid-downtown). 
 
VII. Significance to ORSSAB: 

The conference provided a valuable opportunity to learn from a variety of professionals about new public 
involvement practices. 

VIII. Names & Telephone Numbers of Significant Contacts: 

IX. Action Items: 

X. Traveler’s Signature & Date: 

 
Signature: ___ _________________________  Date: 8/18/15 

2 
 


	color cover new mission statement
	contents
	CONTENTS
	AGENDA
	PRESENTATION MATERIALS – Proposed Plan for Outfall 200 (OF200) Mercury Treatment Facility (MTF) – distributed prior to meeting
	BOARD MINUTES/RECOMMENDATIONS & MOTIONS
	1. June 10, 2015 draft meeting minutes
	REPORTS & MEMOS

	7-ORSSAB agenda 9-9-15
	12-September
	1-October
	draft 6-10-15 meeting minutes
	Nominating committee
	Slide Number 1

	Recommendation Tracking Chart
	Copy of SSABProjectUpdate - JulAug2015
	Sheet1

	Abbreviations
	Copy of Travel Opportunities FY 2015 (3)
	Sheet1

	Copy of Travel Opportunities FY 2016
	Sheet1

	Cook_Trip Report_EPA Conf_2015
	Osborne trip report EPA PI conference Atlanta 8-15

